2001

Jack B. and Joanna M. Zito v. Cendant Mobility Services : Cendant Mobility Services v. Craig and Kylie Reagan : Brief of Appellants

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Order Granting Cendant's Motion for Summary Judgment against the Reagans and Rule 54(b) Determination was filed August 6, 2001. Reagans filed their Notice of Appeal on August 29, 2001. The appeal was timely. Utah R. App. P. 22(a). Jurisdiction was conferred on the Utah Supreme Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (Supp. 2001),

because the appeal is one over which the Court of Appeals does not have original jurisdiction. The Utah Supreme Court transferred to Case to the Court of Appeals, as authorized by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4). (Record 227.)

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Were a statute and ordinance regulating the division of land "for the purpose" of development violated if the undisputed primary purpose for the division was other than development although there was a minor, non-motivating possibility of future building on the divided land?

In determining whether the trial court properly granted judgment as a matter of law to the prevailing party, the appellate court reviews the trial court's conclusions for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's conclusions. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990).

2. Was summary judgment precluded by a genuine question of fact as to whether a landowner's purpose in splitting his property was for purpose of future development, where the landowner repeatedly testified that his purpose was to take advantage of the lower interest rates that would result from such a splitting?

Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In determining whether the trial court correctly found that there was no genuine issue of material fact, the appellate court views the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the

light most favorable to the losing party. Hamblin v. City of Clearfield, 795 P.2d 1133, 1135 (Utah 1990).

3. Was summary judgment of rescission precluded by a factual dispute as to whether the buyer could restore the property to the seller in the same condition as received?

Review is for correctness. Id.

4. Does a zoning violation which may limit the use to which property may be put but which does not completely destroy the value of the property constitutes an encumbrance warranted against by a warranty deed.

Review is for correctness. Ward, supra.

5. Does a zoning violation which may limit the use to which property may be put but which does not completely destroy the value of the property violates the covenant of good right to convey implicit in a warranty deed.

Review is for correctness. Id.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Copies of the relevant ordinances and statutes are attached in the appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case. This is an appeal from a final judgment in a civil action for rescission of a real estate conveyance.

B. Course of proceedings and disposition below.

Zitos filed their complaint against Cendant on April 19, 1999. (Record 18-1.¹) Cendant filed a third-party complaint against Reagans on December 2, 1999. (Record 27-26.) The action between Zitos and Cendant was settled and dismissed with prejudice by order entered July 26, 2000. (Record 39.)

Cendant moved for summary judgment against Reagans on May 16, 2001. (Record 54-53.) Oral arguments on the motion were held July 18, 2001, and the court granted the motion.² (Record 197.) The formal Order Granting Cendant's Motion for Summary Judgment against the Reagans and Rule 54(b) Determination was filed August 6, 2001. (Record 201-199.) The order ruled that there remained factual disputes regarding Cendant's claim for damages and regarding the Reagans' claim that Cendant failed to maintain the property or had an obligation to purchase additional property, but held that was no reason to delay the finality of the order during the pendency of the remaining proceedings and that it should become final for purposes of appeal. (Record 200.)

Following entry of the summary judgment against Reagans, Reagans filed a third-party complaint against First American Title Co.. (Record 206-202.) That matter also remains pending before the trial court.

¹The documents in the trial court record are organized in reverse chronological order, with the result that the numbering placed on the documents pursuant to Rule 11(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure runs in reverse order on each document.

²Although the minute entry does not reflect it, apparently an oral motion was made at the hearing to certify the summary judgment as final for purposes of appeal.

C. Statement of Facts.

Craig Reagan purchased an 80 acre parcel of land in Wasatch County, and in 1994 commenced construction of a house on the property. (Record 167-166.) He moved in the property in November 1994. He got married March 31, 1995, and he and his wife used the house as their primary residence until September 1997 when he was required to move to Texas in connection with a new job. (Record 165.)

In June 1997, before he had received the new job offer, he learned that he could save three percent interest on his home loan if the parcel securing the loan was less than 10 acres. (Record 164.) He contacted the Wasatch County recorder to determine what would be necessary to split up the property. He was informed that, so long as he did not break the property into more than three parcels, all he would need would be to obtain a description of the new parcels and have them recorded with the recorder's office. (Record 163-162.)

Mr. Reagan's purpose in splitting up the property was to reduce the interest rate on his home. (Record 164.) As long as he was at the process, however, he decided to create an extra parcel "[b]ecause I wanted to be able to have the advantage of adding another home [for my parents] if I ever needed to." (Record 161.)

Mr. Reagan had a surveyor prepare a new legal description with two parcels of slightly less than 10 acres in addition to the remaining approximately 60 acres. He took the survey to a title company and asked them to prepare the appropriate deeds for recording with the county to split the property into three separate parcels. (Record 161.)

Sometime in the late summer or fall of 1997 Mr. Reagan received a job offer with Union Pacific which required his moving to Fort Worth, Texas. Part of the offer included a relocation benefit to help with the move. (Record 159.) The employer apparently contracted with HFS Mobility Services, later Cendant Mobility Services, to provide the relocation benefit, and on November 28, 1997, HFS Mobility Services, Inc. agreed to purchase the property from Reagans for \$375,000. (Record 139-133.) A warranty deed implementing the purchase was signed in November 1997 and recorded June 5, 1998. (Record 60-59.)

Jack B. and Joanna M. Zito contracted to purchase the property from Cendant. (Record 12-1.) On April 19, 1999, Zitos filed a complaint alleging that Cendant had refused to close or convey the property and seeking an award of damages. (Record 18-1.) Cendant, in turn, filed a third-party complaint against Reagans alleging that Reagans had failed to obtain legal approval from Wasatch County to "subdivide" their property. (Record 27-26.) Cendant settled the Zito complaint for \$25,000, (Record 37-35), but refused to disclose to Reagans the basis for the settlement nor to give any information concerning damages which may have been suffered by Zitos. (Record 82, 90-89.)

Reagans moved out of the property in September 1997. (Record 165.) The home has an HRF heating system which must be kept on during the winter. (Record 158.) Cendant apparently did not keep the system running, resulting in a crack in a concrete floor in the garage and apparent damage to the heating system. The deck had not been maintained and was deteriorated, the house had not been painted, the road had not been maintained and was

completely dilapidated and rundown, there were cracks in the tile, a door had been broken into, and the toilets had apparently been used even though the plumbing was not operable. (Record 153.)

Cendant filed a motion for summary judgment, seeking rescission. (Record 54-53, 80-57.) Reagans filed a Rule 56(f) affidavit asserting that Cendant had failed to provide adequate responses to discovery focused on the reasonableness of the settlement with Zitos. (Record 83-81.) Reagans argued they had not illegally subdivided the property. They also asserted that rescission was inappropriate because Cendant had allowed the property to be damaged and therefore could not restore the property to the Reagans. (Record 180-84.)

In the trial court acknowledged that there were factual disputes concerning the extent of the damage to the property. The court nonetheless held that rescission was appropriate and granted summary judgment to Cendant, reserving the issue of damages. (Record 201-199.) Reagans thereafter perfected this appeal. (Record 211-209.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was not appropriate under the law, and factual issues precluded summary judgment in any event. The division of property at issue in this case would have been improper only if it were done for the primary purpose of resale or development. The undisputed evidence, however, was that the primary purpose of Mr. Reagan in dividing the property was to lower the interest rate on his home loan. Although Mr. Reagan also had a vague idea that he might at some indeterminate point in the future use one of the parcels to

build a home for his parents, there was no evidence from which the court could have determined that this was "the" purpose for the property division.

At the very least there was a disputed issue of fact as to what was the purpose for dividing the property. Viewed in the light most favorable to the Reagans, the evidence showed that Reagans did not have any intent to develop or resell the property.

Even if the division of the property was improper, it did not breach the warranty against encumbrances nor the covenant of good right to convey. Any statutory violation did not create a lien or other charge against the tile. It was clear that Reagans had full right to actually convey everything the warranty deed stated they conveyed.

Finally, there was an issue of fact as to whether rescission was appropriate. Viewed in the light most favorable to Reagans, the evidence showed that Cendant had allowed the property to deteriorate and suffer serious damage, and Cendant could not restore the property to Reagans in the same condition as it was received. Where restoration of the status quo ante is impossible, rescission may not be granted. This factual dispute precluded summary judgment of rescission.

ARGUMENT

I: SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATELY GRANTED WHERE THERE REMAINED A GENUINE FACTUAL DISPUTE REGARDING CRAIG REAGAN'S PURPOSE IN DIVIDING HIS LAND.

Relying on section 17-27-804 of the Utah Code and section 16.04.030 of the Wasatch County Code, Cendant argued below and the trial court held that Reagans illegally subdivided their property. The definitions of "subdivision" in both the Utah Code and the Wasatch County Code, however, exclude a division of property which is not for the purpose of resale or development. This exclusion applies here.

Utah Code Ann. § 17-27-103(1)(w) defines "subdivision" as "any land that is subdivided, resubdivided or proposed to be divided into two or more lots, parcels, sites, units, plots, or other division of land *for the purpose*, whether immediate or future, for offer, sale, lease, or development either on the installment plan or upon any and all other plans, terms, and conditions." (Italics added.) Wasatch County Code section 16.01.010(97) similarly defines "subdivision" as "a tract, lot or parcel of land which has been divided into two or more lots, plots, sites, or other division of land *for the purpose*, whether immediate or future, of sale or of building development" (Italics added.) Neither of these definitions, therefore, include within the term "subdivision" a division of land which is not for the purpose of resale or development.

The trial court granted summary judgment on the issue of whether the Reagans' 1997 division of their land into three parcels fell within these definitions. In so ruling, the trial

court implicitly held there was no factual dispute that Mr. Reagan's decision to split their 80-acre property into three parcels was "for the purpose" of future development. See Record at 200. The court based this ruling on one selected piece of testimony from Mr. Reagan's deposition, where he had stated that he "wanted to be able to have the advantage of adding another home if [he] ever needed to." See id. (citing Record at 161).

In ruling that there was no dispute as to this clearly dispositive question of fact, the trial court simply disregarded, without explanation, Mr. Reagan's repeated insistence that his decision to divide his property was in fact based upon an altogether different rationale. According to Mr. Reagan's testimony in the very same deposition that was relied upon by the trial court, his decision to divide his property was instead based upon his belief that he could secure a lower interest rate on his homeowner's loan if the plot on which his home was being built was 10 acres in size or less. In contrast to the one mention—found on one page of his deposition—of the desire to parcel out a place where he might *possibly* build a home for his parents, Mr. Reagan's repeated insistence that the reason for this division was to get a better rate on his loan appears on no less than *twelve* other pages of his deposed testimony. See Record at pp. 156, 161-164.³ Relevant examples of Mr. Reagan's explanation of the cost of this loan and the resultant decision to parcel out a ten acre plot to reduce the interest rate include the following:

Q. Tell me why you decided to split up the property.

³Encompassing pages 13-20, 23, 28, 47-48 of Mr. Reagan's deposition.

A. To reduce the interest rate on my home, because the lot size for a conventional loan needed to be ten acres or under to drop my interest rate three percent.

Q. Three percent?

A. Correct. So I was trying to drop my interest rate to get my house payment lower.

Q. Who told you that it would save you three percent?

A. The mortgage companies.

Record at 164.

Q. . . . And sometime in this time frame of June, '97, you learned that you could lower your rate three percent?

A. Correct. . . .

Q. Do you know if you have any documents related to the June, '97 refinancing still in your files?

A. Did not refinance it in June. We were working towards that.

Q. All right. Did you ever refinance it?

A. Yes. *That's what the whole goal is about.*

Record at 163 (emphasis added).

Q. Tell me what steps you took to split the property in the summer of '97.

A. *As I learned of this* [the lower loan rate available for parcels that are 10 acres or smaller], I called the County Recorder and asked them what was required for me to be able to split my property up.

Record at 163 (emphasis added).

Q. Can you tell me why the property that you split up with the house on it is only 9.5 acres?

A. Just so that it would fall underneath the ten acres but be close enough to ten to make it a decent size. . . .

Record at 160.

Q. Do you remember any discussions with any of the real estate agents regarding how you split up the property into ten acre pieces . . . ?

A. I might have with Chris on our listing that, just like I say, on that same discussion of, hey, we owned 80, we want to split this thing up to get our interest rate down

Record at 156.

As is clear from this testimony, Mr. Reagan's decision to parcel his 80 acres into three separate lots was in every way related to his desire to get a lower interest rate on his homeowners loan. That this was the case is further confirmed by the fact that though Mr. Reagan had actually purchased the property in 1989, it wasn't until June of 1997, the same month in which he had learned about the potential 3 point drop in interest rate that was available to sub-10 acre parcels, that he suddenly decided to divide his land.

The trial court's grant of summary judgment is therefore baffling. In granting summary judgment on this point, the court ostensibly found that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to this central question. Given the weight of Mr. Reagan's testimony on the subject, however, it seems clear that, at the very least, the question of what Mr. Reagan's purpose was in dividing the property is an open question that needs to be resolved at trial. In reviewing the trial court's ruling on this point, this Court views all facts and inferences

against the prevailing party. This Court is thus required to view the above listed quotes and facts as meaning what Mr. Reagan insists that they meant all along: that Mr. Reagan's purpose in dividing his land into three parcels was to secure a lower interest rate on his loan.

The trial court's grant of summary judgment should therefore be reversed.

II. A DIVISION OF LAND WITH AN UNDEFINED, UNPLANNED POSSIBILITY OF A FUTURE NON-COMMERCIAL IMPROVEMENT WAS NOT FOR THE PURPOSE OF "DEVELOPMENT."

The second reason that the trial court's summary judgment should be overturned is due to the trial court's erroneous interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 7-27-103(1)(w)(i) (hereafter referred to as "§ 103"). As discussed above, this section defines what type of property divisions are included within the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 17-27-804 (hereafter referred to as "§ 804"). The trial court held that § 103 applied to Mr. Reagan's division of his property and that his resultant failure to comply with § 804 therefore acted as encumbrance upon the land.⁴

As noted above, the basis for the trial court's ruling was its determination that "one of the purposes" for Mr. Reagan's division of his property was for "the future development" of the property. See Record at 200. In so ruling, the court ignored both the plain language and plain meaning of the statute.

⁴This discussion applies equally to the Wasatch County ordinances.

The text of the statute does not support the broad reading given it by the trial court. Rather than imposing the requirements of § 804 on all property owners who have mentally contemplated a possible future division of their property, § 103 strictly limits the application of § 804 to those who divide the land "for the purpose" of those future developments. The trial court's grant of summary judgment because future development was ostensibly "*one of the purposes*" is an overly broad reading that is not in conformity with the plain language of the statute. In essence, the trial court's insertion of its own definition-expanding language has transformed the statute's meaning. Whereas the text of the statute requires at least a showing of primacy, the trial court's reading could now support a wide variety of potential inclusions, just so long as it can be shown that those inclusions were "*one of the purposes*" for the division.⁵

The Utah Supreme Court has "repeatedly stated (that) statutes must be construed not from interpretations of their terms in extraneous contexts, but from 'the plain language of the Act' itself." Associated General Contractors v. Board of Oil, Gas and Mining, 2001 UT 112, ¶ 27, 38 P.3d 291 (citations omitted). Further, "only if there is ambiguity [in a statute] do we look beyond the plain language to legislative history or policy considerations." State v. Lusk,

⁵In its reply brief on the initial motion for summary judgment, Cendant suggested that this reading would "create an exception to the subdivision laws that would swallow their purpose." Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff Cendant's Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at 5. This argument misses the point of the statute. According to the express terms of 804, the very purpose of § 103 is to act as a definitional exemption to the subdivision requirements. See Utah Code Ann. § 804(1) (stating that "unless exempt under section 17-27-806 or not included in the definition of a subdivision under subsection 17-27-103(1)", the requirements of § 804 are to apply).

2001 UT 102, ¶19, 37 P.3d 1103. In the present case, it is thus important to note what this statute does and does not say. The statute does not say that § 804's requirements apply when future development is "a purpose" or "a substantial purpose" or even "one of the purposes." Section 103 plainly states that § 804 applies when future development is "*the* purpose" of the division. A plain language reading of the article "the," coupled with the fact that "purpose" is listed as a singular noun, actually seems to indicate that the statute contemplates application of 804 only when development is the only purpose. Even if one does not subscribe to such a strict reading of the statute, however, it is nevertheless clear that, given the restrictive language used in the statute, a degree of primacy of purpose is obviously required. At the very least, it seems to require something more than an incidental motivation such as was present here.

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