2001

Jack B. and Joanna M. Zito v. Cendant Mobility Services : Cendant Mobility Services v. Craig and Kylie Reagan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is the appropriate resolution of this dispute as there are no disputed facts. The Trial Court correctly applied §17-27-103, U.C.A. finding that the

³ The Reagans claim in their Brief that they have no knowledge of Cendant's settlement with the Zitos and this somehow affects this case. This is simply untrue. Cendant

actions of the Reagans in splitting up their property into three pieces without obtaining the required subdivision approvals was illegal. Mr. Reagan's claim that the only reason he divided his property into three pieces was to lower the interest rate on his mortgage is belied by the obvious fact that if that were the only reason the parcel would have been divided into two pieces, not three. Moreover, in his deposition, Mr. Reagan admitted a future intent to develop one of the remaining two parcels of land.

If §17-27-103, U.C.A., were interpreted any differently than it was by the Trial Court, landowners could just conjure up any specious reason other than future development for dividing their property and escape governmental oversight. The Reagans desired interpretation of the code would leave a hole big enough for a truck to drive through, making it impossible for local to regulate the subdivision of property. It would, perversely, create an incentive for landowners to lie instead of comply with the law. Certainly that is not a result the Legislature or local governments envisioned or intended when creating their subdivision regulations.

The Reagans' illegal subdivision of their property made the subsequent sale of the Home to Cendant a violation of the covenants statutorily contained in the Warranty Deed. It seems impossible to dispute the logical proposition that since the Reagans' sale to Cendant was illegal then the Reagans did not have the "good right to convey the same" as required by §57-1-12, U.C.A.

responded to all discovery requests from the Reagans including turning over all information about this settlement, moreover the Settlement Agreement is in the Record.

Finally, the Trial Court correctly determined that rescission was the appropriate remedy as the covenants in the Warranty Deed had been breached and the purchase and sale was thus void. The case law in Utah and across the country is clear on this point and it is telling of the weakness of their case that the Reagans failed to even cite in their Brief the opinion of this Court in *Anderson v. Doms*, 984 P.2d 392 (Utah App. 1999) almost directly on point. The Reagans' only argument against rescission, that they cannot be restored *status quo ante* because of damages claimed to have been incurred to the Home during Cendant's ownership, was correctly remedied by the Trial Court's reservation of that issue for future proceedings.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY VIOLATED THE SUBDIVISION LAWS OF BOTH THE STATE AND WASATCH COUNTY

The Reagans have admitted that they did not comply with the subdivision requirements of State and County law either when they divided their property into three pieces or when they sold the Home on one of the parcels to Cendant. Their only defense is to claim that they didn't "subdivide" their property.

The Reagans would have this Court believe that the only reason they divided their property was for a lower interest rate on their mortgage. If that were the case they would have divided the property into two pieces rather than three. Even if it was true that no "subdivision" occurred when the Reagans owned all three parcels they created from their

original parcel, it was no longer true when they sold their Home to Cendant without bothering to obtain approval of and record a subdivision plat. What did the Reagans intend to do with their remaining 70 acres? Own it forever as sagebrush?

More importantly, the Reagans' argument that they did not intend to resell or develop the property when they split it up, and therefore were not required to properly subdivide the property is, quite literally, belied by Mr. Reagans' own words. He testified that he "wanted to be able to have the advantage of adding another home if [he] ever needed to." (R. at 161.)

In their Brief the Reagans argue that since Mr. Reagan referred to the lower interest rate on his mortgage a dozen times as his motivation for subdividing the property and his future intent only once then this Court should do simple math and eliminate the future intent statement altogether, leaving eleven references to the lower interest rate and none about his future intent. Obviously, this is not how a party properly deals with a fatal admission against interest. The result the Reagans argue for is irrational, and that is why no case law or statutes are cited to support their argument.

Likewise Reagan would have the Court believe that since his "primary" purpose in dividing his land was not development that the law does not apply to him. This sophistry about "primary" purpose is exactly the type of behavior the extremely broadly written statute was designed to prevent. The language "immediate or future" was included in §17-27-103, U.C.A., by the Legislature because the Legislature clearly wanted local governments to be able to control the hypothecation of property within their jurisdictions.

The Reagans would have this Court believe that §17-27-103, U.C.A., includes a “primacy of intention” requirement for the division of property. This type of “primacy” requirement would encourage people to lie about their reason for dividing their property. Every time someone decided to subdivide their property without following State and local laws, and then later sold or developed the property, a judge would have to listen to all the reasons, both those arguably real and those certainly fictitious, why the *primary intent* was not to develop or sell the property. This is an absurd result. The Legislature should not be presumed by this Court to have written a statute that opened the doors and protections of the judiciary to liars.

The Reagans attempt to weasel out of their obvious intentions by claiming that their “primary” purpose was innocent would create an exception to the subdivision laws that would swallow their purpose. Anyone could divide their property claiming exemption for some innocent “primary” purpose and later sell the divided property to an innocent, or not so innocent, third-party who could then develop it with impunity. If the Legislature had intended that a “primacy” requirement apply to the statute, it could have added the word “only” or “primary” before the language “for the purpose of.” Since the Legislature did not include this language, the plain meaning of the statute is that Reagan should have availed themselves of the legal mechanisms of the County before subdividing their land. Simply put, the reading of the statute the Reagans want this Court to adopt would completely change the structure of zoning and development code at the state level as well as for every local government in Utah.

Reagan relies on the Supreme Court's decision in *Associated General Contractors v. Board of Oil, Gas and Mining*, 38 P.2d 291 (Utah 2001) to support their claim that the statute was misinterpreted by the Trial Court.⁴ Reagan would have the Court believe that the only part of the statute that should be read is "for the purpose of . . . development." This reliance is misplaced.

Obviously, the statute must be read as a whole, and when it is the meaning is clear. As in *Associated General Contractors*, the statutes here are not defined from "extraneous contexts," but, instead, from "the plain language of the [statutes]." *Id.* at 300. When read as a whole it is obvious that the Legislature intended that landowners seek local government approval before willy-nilly subdividing their land.

In order to bolster the argument that the Trial Court did not apply the statute as written, the Reagans engage in yet another strange diatribe regarding percentages.⁵ Once again they cite no law to support this "mistake" the Trial Court made. The Reagans states that the Trial Court did not decide what percentage of the motive Reagan had to develop the property. This misses the point of the statute entirely. It does not matter if 0.001% of the motivation was to sell or lease or develop the property today or at some point in the future. The fact of the matter is that the Legislature intended people to divide their property legally, which is the purpose of the statute.

⁴ Reagan also relies on the case *State v. Lusk*, 37 P.3d 1103 (Utah 2001) to argue that Cendant is somehow adding to the statute. The Reagans read *Lusk* exactly backwards. The statutes in this case, as in *Lusk*, could not be clearer. Cendant has not looked to "legislative history or policy considerations" to support an interpretation of the statutes involved. Instead Cendant relies on the "plain language" of the statutes.

POINT II

THE ILLEGAL SUBDIVISION IS A SUBSTANTIAL ENCUMBRANCE UPON THE PROPERTY WHICH BREACHES THE COVENANTS OF THE WARRANTY DEED

Both §17-27-804, U.C.A., and §16.04.030, W.C.C., make it illegal to sell and convey an illegally subdivided parcel of property. Thus the Reagans had no legal right to convey the illegally subdivided Home to themselves and then to Cendant.

Although this is a case of first impression in Utah, courts of other state have consistently found that nonconformance with applicable zoning laws constitutes an impermissible encumbrance upon the property in violation of a warranty deed. In a case where plaintiffs purchased a home that did not have a certificate of occupancy because of an incorrectly installed septic system, the Vermont Supreme Court held that “an encumbrance is present when seller can determine from municipal records that the property violates local zoning regulations.” *Bianchi v. Lorenz*, 701 A.2d 1037, 1039 (Vt. 1997).

In so finding, the Vermont Supreme Court recognized “that the majority rule in other jurisdictions in the country is that a violation of zoning regulations existing at the time of the conveyance is an encumbrance, at least where the violation has a substantial impact on the use and enjoyment of the land.” *Id.* Citing *Feit v. Donahue*, 826 P.2d 407, 410 (Colo. Ct. App. 1992) (numerous jurisdictions have held that an existing violation of

⁵ See p. 15 of the Reagans’ Brief.

a zoning law constitutes an encumbrance); *FFG, Inc. v. Jones*, 708 P.2d 836, 846 (Haw. Ct. App. 1985) (majority of jurisdictions that have decided question hold that zoning code violation is encumbrance within meaning of covenant against encumbrances); *Seymour v. Evans*, 608 So. 2d 1141, 1146 (Miss. 1992) (majority of jurisdictions regard existing violation of zoning regulations as breach of covenant against encumbrances).⁶

In this case, the illegality of the subdivision, in violation of zoning laws is a substantial encumbrance upon the property resulting in a breach of the covenant against encumbrances contained in the Warranty Deed. One of the covenants in a warranty deed is that the deeded property will be free from encumbrances and that the transferor has the “good right to convey the same”. §57-1-12, U.C.A. If the sale to Cendant was illegal under both State and County law then how the Reagans can claim that they didn’t breach this covenant is a mystery that the Reagans have yet to explain.

The Reagans reliance on *Ellis v. Hale*, 373 P.2d 382 (1962) for the proposition that Utah has held that a violation of zoning laws does not equal an encumbrance on property is misplaced. Reagan would have the Court believe that a violation of the subdivision ordinances and statutes do not give rise to a private action, but, instead, only creates a duty running to the sovereign. But, the statute involved in *Ellis* was a criminal statute making it a misdemeanor to sell an unrecorded subdivision lot. Therefore, it is logical

⁶ In *Seymour v Evans*, 608 So. 2d 1141 (Miss. 1992) the Mississippi Supreme Court held that for a zoning violation to create an encumbrance that violated the warranty deed the “violation had to exist prior to the sale.” That is precisely the factual situation here. (R. 173.) The Reagans had deeded the property to themselves, thus creating the violation, and then sold it to the innocent third party, Cendant, thereby breaching the covenants of

that the Court, when referencing a statute with criminal penalties, would specify that any duty under the statute would run to the sovereign, as the sovereign would be the one to prosecute under the statute.

Ellis did not address, as even the Reagans acknowledge, whether the illegal subdivision violated any of the warranties of title because that issue was not raised in the Complaint.⁷ In the case at bar this issue was indisputably raised by Cendant and decided by the Trial Court.

While attempting to rely on *Ellis* as the law in Utah, the Reagans admit that the majority of courts across the country (as seen above in *Bianchi*, *Feit*, *FFG* and *Seymour*) regard a violation of a zoning restriction as a breach of the covenant against encumbrances. The Reagans argue that those rulings are inconsistent with Utah authority supposedly requiring that an encumbrance must involve a third party holding a right in the land constituting a burden or limitation. Even following that analysis, in this case the County is a third party and the limitation the County imposes on selling a property that is illegally subdivided constitutes an almost insurmountable burden on the future use and resale of the property. That the third party holding the encumbrance is a governmental entity instead of a private person is neither unusual nor violative of the logic of the impermissibility of the encumbrance.

the warranty deed.

⁷ “In fact, the complaint does not rely on any of the five warranties embraced in the statutory warranty deed.” *Ellis* at 386.

While the Reagans claim to find succor for this argument in *Brewer v. Peatross*, 595 P.2d 866 (Utah 1979) the Reagans must have missed the portion of the *Brewer* opinion where the encumbrance on the property held to be improper was the existence of a special improvement district imposed by the City of Roosevelt. *Id.* at 867. The factual situation here is therefore directly analogous to *Brewer*.

The law across the country is logical and consistent. The provisions of §57-1-12, U.C.A., are the same. The illegal subdivision of a piece of property creates an encumbrance that breaches a warranty deed's covenants against encumbrances and in favor of transferability. This Court should follow the other courts across the country and rule that an illegal subdivision of land is a breach of the covenants of a warranty deed.

POINT III

RESCISSION OF THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY IS THE PROPER REMEDY

In the recent case of *Anderson v. Doms*, 984 P.2d 392 (Utah App. 1999), this Court found that rescission was the appropriate remedy for a breach of the covenant against encumbrances even where the legal dispute had lingered for years before the buyer realized he could attempt to rescind the contract. Frankly, that should be the end of this argument and it is astonishing that the Reagans did not even bother to address the controlling case on the subject in their Brief.

Moreover, “[Rescission] is consistent with Utah case law and that of other jurisdictions.” *Id.* at 398. In *Anderson* the Court directed that “the Trial Court should

determine what is necessary to restore the parties to the status quo at the time the parties entered into the contract.” *Id.* The Trial Court can easily accomplish that after the resolution of this appeal. The Reagans get their property back and Cendant’s get their money back, while leaving the option of an adjustment to Cendant’s recovery as damages for the Reagans alleged property deterioration. How much closer to *status quo ante* can you get?

Instead of addressing the controlling case, *Anderson*, the Reagans rely on a misreading of *50 West Broadway Associates v. The Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City*, 784 P.2d 1162 (Utah 1989). In addition to the fact that *50 West Broadway* was decided before *Anderson*, that case is distinguishable from the case at bar for at least three reasons. First, this is not a case about contract construction between a savvy commercial developer and a government entity, it is a simple residential real estate transaction. Second, Cendant rescinded the contract as soon as the facts about the illegal subdivision came to light. In contrast to *50 West Broadway* where the attempt to rescind the contract only occurred after years of knowing about and ignoring the option Cendant “pursue[d] its claim with timely diligence.” *Id.* at 1170. Third, unlike in *50 West Broadway* a building has not been placed over any of the Reagans property, a situation which would make *status quo ante* restoration more difficult.⁸

Utah courts have said time and time again that rescission is the appropriate remedy, even when the dispute has continued for years, and even when there is an

⁸ Similarly, because Cendant promptly sought rescission against the Reagans this case is

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